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APPENDIX A

NOTICE OF VIOLATION

American Red Cross Docket No. 030-13722
Penn-Jersey Regional Red Cross Blood Program License No. 29-17962-01
Pleasantville, New Jersey 08232 .

As a result of the inspection conducted on June 26, 1985, and in accordance
with the NRC Enforcement Policy (10 CFR 2, Appendix C), the following violation
was identified:

10 CFR 30.36(b) requires that each licensee notify the Commission
immediately in writing under 30.6 and request termination of the license
when the licensee decides to terminate all activities involving materials

1 authorized under the license. This notification and request for
termination of the license must include a completed Form NRC 314 and a
radiation survey report to confirm the absence of radioactive materials;

or to establish the levels of residual radioactive contamination.

i Contrary to this requirement, as of June 26, 1985, activities under
License No. 29-16912-01 had not been conducted since October 17, 1984.
Specifically, laboratory areas had been released for unrestricted use and
a license representative indicated no plans to resume any activities
involving licensed materials. A Form NRC 314 had not been prepared and
submitted to the NRC.

This is a Severity Level IV violation. (Supplement VI)

Pursuant to the provisions of 10 CFR 2.201, American Red Cross, Penn-Jersey
Regional Red Cross Blood Program, is hereby required to submit to this office
within thirty days of the date of the letter which transmitted this Notice, a
written statement or explanation in reply, including: (1) the corrective steps
which have been taken and the results achieved; (2) corrective steps which will
be taken to avoid further violations; and (3) the date when full compliance
will be achieved. Where good cause is shown, consideration will be given to
extending this response time.
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